| X                     | IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF THORIDA               |
|-----------------------|--|
| BOBBY EARL LUSK,      | NOV 19 1965 V  |
| Defendant, Appellant, | No. 67,335 CLERN COURT                                     |
| <b>v.</b>             | (On Appeal From the Electric Judicial Circuit Peputy Clock |
| THE STATE OF FLORIDA, | , U  |
| Plaintiff, Appellee.  |  |
| x                     |  |

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON APPEAL

RICHARD WARE LEVITT Attorney for Bobby Earl Lusk 148 East 78th Street New York, New York 10021 (212) 737-0400 (Member of Florida Bar)

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

#### Introduction.

This is an appeal from an order of the Hon. Osee R. Fagan, Circuit Judge for the Eighth Judicial Circuit, denying a Motion for Post-Conviction Relief filed on behalf of Bobby Earl Lusk, a death-sentenced defendant.

On December 5, 1979, Lusk was convicted by a jury of first degree murder in the Eighth Judicial Circuit in and for Bradford County, Florida. On December 7, 1979, the jury returned a recommendation of life imprisonment. On February 5, 1980, Judge Fagan overrode the jury's recommendation and imposed a death sentence.

On January 26, 1984, this Court affirmed the judgment of conviction and sentence of death, Judges Overton and McDonald dissenting from the affirmance of sentence. Lusk v. State, 446 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 1984). Certiorari was denied October 1, 1984. Lusk v. Florida, \_\_\_\_, U.S. \_\_\_\_, 105 S.Ct. 229.

#### A. Summary of Trial Testimony

Bobby Lusk was tried, convicted and sentenced to die for the murder of Michael Hall. Lusk stabbed Hall to death November 23, 1978 during the luncheon meal at Florida State Prison (F.S.P.), where both Lusk and Hall were inmates. According to Lusk's confession, he and Michael Hall, a "big wheel" in the prison and known as "Yard Dog," had been on bad terms for several weeks (T. 448-51)\frac{1}{2}. About a month before the killing, Hall had come for a haircut to the barbershop where Lusk worked cutting hair (T. 433). Hall told Lusk that he had read about his case\frac{2}{2} in a detective magazine, that he knew all about Lusk, and that "if you mess up my hair, I'm gonna kill you right here." (T. 447, 453) He then continued, "I'm gonna --we're gonna -- I'm gonna get you sooner or later anyway," and he ascertained that Lusk lived on K Wing (T. 453).

By Thanksgiving day, 1978, Hall himself had moved to K Wing (T. 448). That morning he and two companions pushed their way into Lusk's cell and demanded the key to his locker (T. 448-49). When Lusk said he had lost it, they stabbed at his mattress and told him: "We'll get in one way or another"... and warned him "not to go to the man [i.e. prison

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Numbers preceded by "T." refer to the trial transcript; numbers preceded by "S." will refer to the sentencing transcript; numbers preceded by "R." will refer to the record on appeal.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$ Lusk was serving three consecutive life sentences, one for first degree murder and two for armed robbery, all arising out of a single transaction, a robbery of three elderly women during which one of the victims died from asphyxiation after being gagged. (T.776-78).

officials]." (T. 449) Lusk went to breakfast, and when he returned, the lid had been pried off his locker and his money and several packs of cigarettes had been stolen. (T.449-50, 604).

When Bobby Lusk saw what they had done, he told himself, "I ain't gonna take it no more." (T. 450) He explained:

And, if I had let him get by with that he would have just been back tomorrow morning and the morning after it. Maybe he would try to turn me into a homosexual or something and I had been under a direct threat ever since he had been on the wing, so, I just couldn't, you know, do nothing else but what I did. (T. 450)

When he went to the noon meal, Lusk took along a home-made knife that he had kept in the flap of a cardboard box for two years for protection (T. 451). Lusk testified at trial that he heard Hall say, referring to Lusk, "After dinner I got to take him out," meaning to kill him (T. 597). In his statement, Lusk recalled going up to where Hall was seated and stabbing him in the back several times (T. 451-52, 456). Hall stood up after the first blow and threw his tray at Lusk, but then fell to the floor (T. 456).

The prosecution called six eye-witnesses at the guiltinnocence phase of the trial, four correctional officers and two inmates. These witnesses described Lusk coming up behind Michael Hall, who was sitting with three others, and stabbing him three times in the back with a knife (T. 267, 280, 297, 308, 317). Lusk then backed up, held up his knife, and yelled, "This is what will happen to anybody that decided to rob me." (T. 268). Sgt. Clyde Blevins, the supervisor over the noon feeding, approached Lusk and asked him to hand over the knife, which Lusk did without offering any resistance (T. 270, 334, 338). Several defense witnesses, including friends of the victim, testified that the stabbing was provoked by Hall, that a struggle ensued in which both men may have been brandishing knives, and that the victim was stabbed during the fight (T. 509-10, 538, 560-61, 579-80). Medical testimony indicated that Hall lost consciousness quickly and died within minutes (T. 422-23).

## B. The Motion for Post-Conviction Relief

On January 3, 1985, <u>pro bono</u> counsel filed a Motion for Post-Conviction Relief and supporting memorandum of law on behalf of Mr. Lusk, an indigent, alleging ineffectiveness of counsel at the guilt, penalty and sentencing phases of trial and several Eighth Amendment violations. (R. 1-17).

In support of the ineffectiveness argument counsel made allegations, with supporting exhibits (R. 18-278), regarding both the personal background of Mr.Lusk's court-appointed

attorney, Mack Futch, and his preparation and conduct of the defense. Several specific bases for the ineffectiveness claim were proffered, and are discussed in greater detail throughout this brief. A primary argument for ineffectiveness at the guilt stage involved Futch's exclusive reliance on an all-or-nothing defense of self-defense, a reliance which was totally irrational given Lusk's existing status as a triple life sentencee and the availability of a far more convincing argument that the killing was motivated by fear or a "dominating passion," as explained in Forehand v. State, 126 Fla.401, 171 So. 241 (Fla. 1936) (R. 5).

Additionally, Lusk urged that, once the theory of self-defense was embarked upon, Futch displayed gross and prejudicial incompetence by not informing the jury at the guilt stage that Michael Hall had previously been convicted of the sexually related gang torture murder of an inmate at Sumpter Correctional Institution, and by not adducing other substantial evidence of Hall's recognized psychotic personality and bent towards sadistic violence (R. 4-5, 16-21).

The motion papers also asserted that Futch failed to support Lusk's claim that he believed the F.S.P. guards were either unable or unwilling to protect him from Michael Hall, even though there existed abundant evidence of the dangerous, deplorable prison conditions prevailing at the time, and of

the "leaks" which often put a prisoner complaining of intimidation in even greater danger. (R.5, 22-27) Nor did Futch show, as he could have, that Lusk, prior to encountering Hall, was working and living peaceably in the prison environment. (R.14-15)

Numerous substantial allegations were also made regarding Futch's performance during the penalty and sentencing phases. Although Lusk was facing a minimum of two, and possibly three or four aggravating circumstances, Futch spent a mere one and a half hours preparing for the penalty and sentencing phases. At the penalty phase he elicited the harmful and patently false testimony that Florida State Prison was not a violent place and that Michael Hall was not a violent person.

Additionally, he presented virtually none of the readily available and abundant mitigating evidence, except to establish, without explication, that Michael Hall had a previous conviction for murder in the second degree and that Lusk ran away from home and had been in three hospitals for mental observation. Yet, had Futch performed a minimal investigation, he could have found additional mitigating circumstances in Lusk's family background, his character, and his exemplary behavior at Florida State Prison before being threatened by Hall (R. 7-8).

Lusk asserted in his motion papers that, had the foregoing mitigating circumstances been in evidence, no override of the jury's life recommendation could have sustained analysis under <u>Tedder v. State</u>, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975) and <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 1091 (Fla. 1983), since the omitted evidence undoubtedly would have provided a reasonable basis for the jury's recommendation.

Lusk also asserted that the ineffective assistance afforded him by Mr. Futch should be viewed in the context of appointed counsel's background. Futch had been an Assistant State Attorney from 1956 to 1974, when he ran successfully for Public Defender of Bradford County. His tenure as Public Defender ended in 1975, after an investigation by the Florida Department of Criminal Law Enforcement concluded that Futch had a serious drinking problem, was chronically absent, and had misappropriated state funds through the submission of false expense and travel vouchers (R. 236-238, 245-257). Prosecution was declined and Futch left the Public Defender's office and established a private practice.

## C. The Motion to Disqualify

Shortly after filing his memorandum in support of postconviction relief, counsel filed a motion to disqualify Judge Fagan. (R. 343-351). The grounds for disqualification were that: 1) a judge should not preside over a motion seeking to determine the effectiveness of an attorney he, himself, appointed; 2) Judge Fagan had previously indicated a general prejudice against claims based on attorney ineffectiveness and a specific prejudice regarding this case and this defendant; and 3) Judge Fagan might be a material witness for or against one of the parties.

Oral argument of the motion was had on March 6, 1985. Judge Fagan denied the motion in a written opinion and order dated March 14, 1985. (R. 360-366). Counsel applied to this Court for a Writ of Prohibition, which was denied without opinion.

#### D. Notice to Depose Trial Counsel

Prior to a hearing on the merits, counsel noticed Mr. Lusk's previous attorney, Mack Futch, for a deposition. The State moved to quash, arguing there was no authority to take depositions in support of a motion under Rule 3.850. On April 24, Judge Fagan issued an order granting the State's motion to quash. (R.395-398).

## E. Motion to Interview Jurors

Counsel moved for permission to interview the jurors, both to ascertain the "reason" for their life recommendation consistent with this Court's decisions in <u>Tedder</u>, <u>Richardson</u> and their progeny, and also because the jurors were virtually the only "neutral" observers of Mr. Futch's courtroom demeanor and performance. (R. 384-391). On April 24, 1985, Judge Fagan issued an order denying the motion. (R. 399-400).

## F. Post-Conviction Hearing

#### Introduction

An evidentiary hearing on the defendant's post-conviction motion for relief was held before Judge Fagan on May 8 and May 9, 1985 in the Circuit Court of the Eighth Judicial Circuit at the Bradford County Courthouse in Starke, Florida.

Among the witnesses called by the defendant to establish counsel's ineffectiveness were: Mack S. Futch, who had represented the defendant at trial and sentencing (R.886); the defendant himself (R.1085); Jesse J. Wolbert, who had shared office space with Mr. Futch at the time of the trial (R.1046); Wilma Ellenburg, who had known Lusk since his

birth (R.1010); and William J. Sheppard, an attorney and expert in the preparation and trial of felony cases (R.1175). Additional evidence, both testimonial and documentary, bearing on specific aspects of Lusk's trial was presented by the defendant.<sup>3</sup> During its case the State also called Futch (R.1276), as well as two character witnesses (R.1133, R.1211) and Thomas Elwell, who had prosecuted Lusk's case (R.1295).

#### 1) Counsel's Preparation and Trial of the Guilt Phase.

Mack Futch, assigned by the trial court to represent Lusk, testified at the post-conviction hearing that when he first assessed the case, "the evidence appeared almost overwhelming concerning his guilt," since there was a confession and numerous eyewitnesses. (R.988) The defense he chose to present was self-defense. (R.908) Apparently conceding a murder conviction, Futch claimed to have pursued this defense "to lessen the impact [of Lusk's act] in the eyes of the jury, in the hope of obtaining a recommendation of mercy." (R.908) Futch acknowledged, however, that Lusk could not have been sentenced to death if convicted of a grade of homicide less than first degree murder and that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The defendant had also subpoenaed Assistant Superintendent Richard Dugger of Florida State Prison. When Dugger failed to appear, the court refused to enforce the subpoena, or grant an adjournment, without proof that Dugger had been tendered the statutory witness fee, notwithstanding Lusk's indigency and the filing of the sheriff's return on the subpoena. (R.1147-1151)

defendant was already serving three consecutive life sentences. (R.907-8) Nevertheless, aside from insanity, Futch considered no strategy or theory of defense that might reduce first degree murder to a lesser offense. (R.908-9)

Inquiry into Futch's preparation for trial was impeded because he had destroyed the Lusk file. (R.891) Futch's Motion for Payment of Attorney Fees and the supporting time sheets, which were introduced into evidence by the defendant, shed some light on this question. (R.827-28; 893) Prior to their introduction Futch stated that he kept hourly records of the time he expended on Lusk's case and that his records were reasonably accurate. (R.893) After their introduction, however, he claimed the time sheets included only a partial listing of the hours expended. (R.893) Among other things, those time sheets reflected no time spent on legal research (R.909) and only an hour and a half preparing for the penalty phase of the trial. (R.938).

Although his entire case was to rest on the self-defense theory, Futch neither subpoenaed the prison records of the victim, Michael Hall, nor ascertained prior to trial that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Futch was not sure when he had destroyed the file. At one point he said he destroyed it when he went back to work as an Assistant State Attorney in 1980 (R.891). At another point he said that he destroyed it after the direct appeal had been decided (R.891-2). He could not recall, however, when the appeal was decided (R.1292). (In fact, Lusk's appeal was not decided until January, 1984.)

Hall was extremely violence-prone and possibly a psychopath. This was so even though Futch admitted that (R.910-12)Hall's history of violence and psychotic disorders might be an important component of self-defense. (R.912)<sup>5</sup> Stephen Pillow, an investigator and a former correctional officer at Union Correctional Institution (U.C.I.), testified at the hearing that Hall's reputation among the prison staff was as a "very vicious and violent individual." (R.1041) cally, Hall had the reputation of "preying on the elderly, weaker, smaller inmates, tak[ing] their money away from them, forc[ing] them into homosexual activities and this sort of thing." (R.1044) Futch believed that Hall's prison disciplinary records, even if they reflected an infraction for carrying a knife, would not have been admissible. (R.914)

Futch also neither sought nor presented evidence at trial to establish the violent conditions at Florida State

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Hall's prison records were entered into evidence at the hearing. (R.829-52) They document Hall's conviction for the sexually related gang torture murder of an inmate at Sumpter Correctional who had complained of being harassed by Hall and his cohorts. (R.832-4; 841) They also contain a diagnosis that Hall was psychotic and indicate that he was transferred to Florida State Prison because he was too dangerous to remain at U.C.I. (R.846, 850, 852). They further document Hall's several disciplinary adjudications, including one for possessing a knife at the U.C.I. barber shop. (R.851) This particular violation bore special significance since Lusk claimed Hall threatened him at the F.S.P. barber shop.

Prison.<sup>6</sup> (R.924) Nor did he obtain evidence to establish that an inmate who "snitches" or seeks protection from prison officials may be actually putting himself in greater danger. Futch stated that he was unwilling to vouch for such evidence since it came from other inmates and was therefore not credible.<sup>7</sup> (R.920-1) He did, however, secure a certified copy of Hall's conviction for murdering another inmate. (R.912) He did not introduce it at the guilt phase.

Futch testified on direct that Hall's conviction was important to show self-defense and agreed that the jury's awareness that Hall had previously been convicted of murder was a critical aspect of demonstrating self-defense. (R.911-12) At the hearing, it was Futch's uncertain, albeit erroneous, recollection that Hall's conviction had been introduced into evidence during the guilt phase of the trial. (R.1193) When cross-examined by the State, Futch shifted his

of two reports on violent prison conditions and the system's inability toprotect prisoners at F.S.P. at the time of the offense. One was the report of the Advisory Commission created by Judge Green in the case of <u>Graham v. Vann</u>, 394 So.2d 180 (Fla.1st DCA 1981). The second was the Final Report of the Ad Hoc Subcommittee on Management Oversight of the House Committee on Corrections, Probation and Parole, issued in October, 1980. (R.924-5) (Defendant's Exhibits C (R.423-581) and D (R.582-602) for identification, repectively.) The reports were summarized in the motion papers at R.22-27.

<sup>7</sup>Lusk testified that inmates who could testify to prison conditions were available but not called by Futch. (R.1113) At his trial Lusk had protested he was denied the opportunity to present certain witnesses on his behalf. (T.765)

testimony regarding the critical importance of Hall's conviction to establish self-defense, and maintained that the 1973 conviction would have been inadmissible because of remoteness in time and, even if admissible during the guilt phase, would be given very little attention by the jury. (R.984,999)

# 2. Counsel's Preparation and Trial of the Penalty Phase

Although at the penalty phase of the case Futch had told the jurors that "I'm going to talk to you about one thing and one thing alone, and that is mercy for this defendant" (T.802), he testified at the hearing that he saw his goal at that phase as convincing the jury that mitigating circumstances outweighed aggravating circumstances and that he understood the judge could override the jury's recommendation if sufficient mitigating circumstances were not introduced. (R.935, 939)

Futch testified that in preparing for the penalty phase he spent more than the hour and a half that his time sheets indicated, although he could not say how much more time. (R.938) He did not obtain or examine the file of Lusk's previous conviction (R.919); or seek any help from outside advisors, such as a psychologist or investigator (R.942); or speak to anyone in Lusk's hometown regarding his background

(R.942); or discuss with the defendant his abuse as a child. 8 (R.943) Nevertheless, Futch did not believe he could have done any further work to develop mitigating circumstances (R.955), and that he gave all the mitigating circumstances he had to the jury (R.954). He could not remember, however, what those mitigating circumstances were. (R.961) The trial record reflects that during the penalty phase Futch simply introduced, for the first time, the bare fact of Hall's prior murder conviction and presented Lusk's brief testimony. (T. 779-82). He also elicited testimony that F.S.P. was not a generally violent place and that Michael Hall was not a violent person. (T.785-86) Futch never discussed with Lusk what his own testimony would be. (R.1127)

At the post-conviction hearing, the defendant called Wilma Ellenburg from Lusk's hometown of Hickman, Kentucky. (R.1010) Ms. Ellenburg had known Lusk since his birth and was thoroughly familiar with his family background and upbringing. (R.1012) She testified that his parents were Lois and Curtis Lusk, but that the latter was not his biological father. (R.1012) Lusk was the illegitimate offspring of Lois Lusk and Eldon Walker, who lived across the street from the Lusks in Hickman, a fact which was generally

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>In Futch's opinion, evidence of Lusk's troubled upbringing, including his abuse as a child, and his placement at age ten in the Kentucky Children's Home as a neglected child, might be more aggravating than mitigating. (R.944)

known around Hickman. (R.1012, 1014) Curtis Lusk made his wife leave home with the child when she first came home from the hospital, but she later returned. (R.1015-16) Bobby, however, was not permitted in Mr. Lusk's sight or allowed to eat at the same table as Mr. Lusk and his two legitimate sons. (R.1016-17) While still in diapers, he was given a cookie and a Coke and sent out to the porch. (R.1017)

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