IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BOBBY EARL LUSK,

APPELLANT,

-VS-

CASE NO. 67,335

STATE OF FLORIDA,

APPELLEE.

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF ON APPEAL

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-0600

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

None of these factual determinations have been challenged and all are supported by direct testimony and allowable inferences therefrom. Given these facts, there is no basis for

any appeal.

Without abandoning the fact that Lusk has failed to prepare any appealable issue for review, the State would briefly note:

(A) Selection of Trial Strategy

Although paying lip service to Strickland v. Washington,

U.S. ____, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), Lusk has utilized a

radical outcome-determinative test for assessing Mr.Futch's

competence, i.e., "Futch ultimately lost so he was per se

incompetent and none of his decisions can be labelled

tactical". It was defense expert Sheppard's dogged adherence to

this line that cost him his crediblity, for example:

(1) All or Nothing Defense

The defense expert testified that this defense cannot be tactically employed. That is not true. This defense can be very effective due to its tremendous coercive impact on the jury-particularly where, as here, there are conflicting eyewitness accounts of the crime. Under this theory, jurors must be "so willing" to reject half of the testimony at trial that they will convict on the maximum charge. There is no "easy way out," no "compromise" verdict on a lesser charge. The strategy is designed to win the case, not dump the client. It has been recgonized as proper in death cases. see Spaziano v.

Florida, U.S., 82 L.Ed.2d 340 (1984).

For Mr. Sheppard to testify that the decision to utilize this accepted defense was not strategic or tactical means only that his reknowned opposition to capital punishment interfered with his oath as a witness.

(2) Self Defense vs. Dominating Passion

Sheppard testified to the existence of two available defenses: self defense and dominating passion. Sheppard then proceeded to state:

- (A) "Dominating Passion" was so superior a defense as to make the selection of self defense per se incompetent.
- (B) "Self defense" would be a successful defense if presented in a little more detail.

Mr.Sheppard did not grace us with an explanation as to how "self defense" could be a successful, yet per se incompetent, choice. Again, Sheppard was using his outcome determinative approach.

The defense of self defense was chosen because Mr. Futch had eyewitnesses who would swear that Hall attacked Lusk. Futch, 22 times, brought out Hall's nickname ("Yard Dog") and his violent reputation and his strong arm robbery of Lusk in his cell. (Futch is only accused of not providing cumulative evidence). The "vastly

superior" defense of dominating passion is argued in Lusk's brief as it was below. Was it superior? The State submits it not only was not superior, it was wholly unsupported by the evidence and, as such, so weak that Lusk could not have even obtained a jury instruction thereon for want of evidentiary support.

In Sheppard's cited case of <u>Forehand v. State</u>, 126 Fla. 401, 171 So.241, 43 (1946) the defense of "dominating passion" is described as follows:

"It is also true that a well defined purpose to kill may be induced, compelled or constrained by anger of such degree as for the moment to cloud the reason and momentarily obscure what might otherwise be a deliberate purpose." (emphasis added).

In every single cited case in Lusk's brief, an ongoing fight (combat) led to a total burst of rage by the defendant resulting in an emotionally charged killing. (Forehand, for example, got so carried away shooting at the victim that he shot his own brother in the process). Every single cited "passion" case makes clear that the defendant must act in a moment of rage without time to cool off or reflect, as opposed to the facts in <u>Sireci v. State</u>, 399 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1981) and <u>Spinkellink v. State</u>, 313 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1975).

The Appellant cites Quintana v. State, 452 So.2d 8 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) as supportive. Lusk's brief omits relevant facts which show us that Quintana is inapplicable.

Mr. Quintana was the victim of threats and actual physical and sexual assaults by the victim and his gang. On the morning of the murder the victim (Harold) attacked and choked Quintana. Harold left but soon returned to Quintant's cell (cornering Quintana) with two friends, one of whom was armed. Harold gave a hand signed indicating the start of an attack by the three of them. Cornered and outnumbered, facing imminent attack, Quintana killed Harold. Harold was not, as represented by Lusk, simply "walking by" the cell when Quintana killed him.

The differences between the case at bar and <u>Forehand</u>, Quintana, et al are obvious.

Lusk was robbed by Hall around 9:00 A.M. Around 1:00 P.M., after having four hours to cool off, Lusk stalked and killed Hall by stabbing him three times in the back of the neck, using his own illegally possessed knife. There was no attack and no struggle (Had Hall been facing Lusk and fighting him he could not have received three stabs in the back of the neck). Lusk freely admitted this was a preplanned revenge killing.

Given the existence of time to "cool off" and the confession, there was no proof of "dominating passion." Fear? yes, Hatred? Yes. Perhaps if Lusk had killed Hall in his cell that morning that would have involved passion, but not this killing. Since there was no proof of dominating passion, Lusk might not have even been able to obtain a jury instruction on his

theory. See <u>Pridgeon v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 68 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); Reyers v. State, 10 F.L.W. 2415 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985).

Thus, even if we accept the notion that this defense was possible, no one can realistically allege that the use of self defense over "dominating passion" was a choice "beyond the wide range of professional and competent assistance." Strickland v. Washington, supra; Mulligan v. Kemp, 771 F.2d 1436, 1440 (11th Cir. 1985).

Sheppard's contention (now Lusk's) that Mr. Futch picked the wrong viable defense and was therefore incompetent, was not a truthful, expert, statement of the law. Strickland states:

"Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. It is all too tempting for a defendant to second guess counsel's assistance after conviction or an adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to "conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable. cf. Engle v. Isaac, 456 U.S. 107...." supra at 694

and

"There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given cse. Even the best criminal attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way." supra at 695

(3) Presentation of Self Defense

The victim, Hall, had a reputation for violence enhanced by his second degree murder of an inmate at U.C.I. This character, Lusk says, should have been more fully revealed than it was.

It is submitted that Lusk had no guarantee of success in any battle of reputations. Was he a model prisoner? Proof of that would open inquiry in Lusk's unlawful possession of a knife. Was Hall despicable for killing a criminal? Proof of that would open inquiry into Lusk's <u>first</u> degree murder (by asphyxiation) of an unarmed old woman! The list goes on.

In Stanley v. Zant, 697 F.2d 955 (11th Cir. 1983) the court held that counsel's tactical decision to introduce or refrain from introducing given evidence, especially character evidence, depends upon the posture of the case and the danger of "opening doors." see Easter v. Estelle, 609 F.2d 756 (5th Cir. 1980); William v. Maggio, 679 F.2d 381 (5th Cir. 1982) (en banc); Gray v. Lucas, 677 F.2d 1086 (5th Cir. 1982).

If Mr.Futch "erred" in tactically chosing not to pit the character of an "old woman" killer against a "convict" killer, that error cannot be said to have reduced Futch's representation to a level of incompetence. <u>Baldwin v. Blackburn,</u> 653 F.2d 942 (5th Cir. 1981); <u>Winfrey v. Maggio,</u> 664 F2d 550 (5th Cir. 1981); <u>Mulligan v. Kemp,</u> 771 F.2d 1436 (11th Cir. 1985).

Again, however, we return to the fact that Lusk has not

appealed the sufficiency of the evidence to support the court's findings of fact, nor has he couched his arguments in Stricklands' terms. Instead, he has given us the benefit of his view of the facts and his theory of the law in a protracted, meritless, jury argument. He is not entitled to relief.

POINT II

THE CUMULATIVE ERROR CLAIM IS UNSUPPORTED BY THE RECORD

Judge Fagan's order shows that Mr.Lusk never offered argument or evidence on many of his claims, thus waiving them. One would hope Lusk's "competent" and "prepared" new counsel, sitting in judgment of trial counsel, would not seek de novo trial in this court.

(A) Failure to object to <u>Witherspoon</u> exclusions under the "cross section of the community" rubric.

The Appellant asks us to find Mr. Futch incompetent for failing to raise a legal objection which, especially in 1979, was meritless. Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 57 L.Ed.2d 973 (1978). Counsel is not expected to raise every possible constitutional claim, merited or not. Francois v. Wainwright, 423 So.2d 357 (Fla. 1982). The claim is meritless.

(B) Removal of biased jurors as creating a guilt prone jury.

Counsel is accused, in 1979, of not anticipating the (unresolved) claim currently before the Supreme Court in Lockhart v. McCree (case 84-1865). Aside from the fatuity of this claim, in 1979 Futch would have been guided by Spinkellink v.

Also known as <u>Grigsby v. Mabry</u>, 758 F.2d 226 (8th Cir.) (en banc) cert. granted <u>sub</u> no---- <u>Lockhart v. McCree</u>, 106 S.Ct. 59 (1985).

Wainwright, 578 F.2d 582 (5th Cir. 1978) rejecting this claim, and Bumper v. North Carolina, 391 U.S. 543, 545 (1968) which said:

"Our decision in <u>Witherspoon</u> does not govern the present case because here the jury recommended a sentence of life imprisonment"

and

"The petitioner adduced no evidence to support the claim that a jury selected as this one was is necessarily 'prosecution prone' and the materials referred to in his brief are no more substantial than those brought to our attention in Witherspoon."

Finally, the <u>Grigsby</u> decision is not accepted as correct or controlling in Florida. <u>Witt v. State</u>, 465 So.2d 510 (Fla. 1985).

Again, we have no proof of incompetence.

(3) Failure to object to the State being granted challenges for cause during voir dire.

This claim was unsupported by evidence or testimony.

(4) Failure to prepare for trial.

This argument is unsupported by factual assertions. Lusk's brief sloughs off the claim with a footnote reference to the trial court's 'refusal" to consider the F.D.L.E. report on Futch's drinking problems years before trial.

If this report was relevant Lusk would have said so. He did not. Lusk would have "linked it up" to Futch's courtroom performance. He did not and, upon inquiry from the bench - could not. All Lusk asked was for a finding of a "residual problem" in 1979.

Lusk has not bothered to appeal the Court's refusal to admit the report as evidence, because he knows the ruling was correct. His continued reference to the report even though it was not evidence, is regrettable Fla. Bar Code of Prof. Resp. EC 7-25 states:

"A lawyer should not make any perfunctory statement before a tribunal in regard to the purported facts of the case on trial unless he believes that his statement will be supported by admissible evidence, a lawyer should not ask a witness a question solely for the purpose of harassing or embarrassing him, and a lawyer should not by subterfuge put before a jury matters which it cannot properly consider."

As trial "experts," Mr. Futch's accusers knew, and admitted, they could not link up the F.D.L.E. report with the performance of Mr. Futch years later. As "experts" they knew they could not even appeal the report's exclusion. While this is obviously the Supreme Court and not a jury, Lusk's tactic of "just having the

⁴ At the hearing Lusk had the report marked, apparently so he could appeal its exclusion, by thus polluting the record, Lusk seeks to do indirectly that which he could not do directly.

report marked," and sliding it into the record, and arguing "facts" therefrom, is no less questionable.

(5) Failure to file a motion to suppress.

Mr. Futch did not file what he correctly perceived to be a meritless motion to suppress. Again, no expert testimony or argument was raised on this point. In any event, Futch was not required to raise every conceivable issue, merited or not, Stanley v. Zant, 697 F.2d 955 (11th Cir. 1983); Francois v. Wainwright, 423 So.2d 357 (Fla. 1982); Willis v. Newsome, 771 F.2d 1445 (11th Cir. 1985). and did not fall below the standards announced in Strickland.

(6) Failure to seek sanctions for the loss of "Brady" material.

Mr. Lusk owned a knife and was alone in his cell with it while planning Hall's murder and his excuse therefore. Mr. Hall was never shown to have had a knife. If Lusk's mattress had multiple, undatable, tears in it, that fact would not exculpate Lusk. Even if Hall slashed the mattress, Lusk took four hours to plan and murder Hall in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner.

"Expert" counsel for Mr. Lusk must assuredly be aware that mere defense evidence is not necessarily "Brady" material. It must be "sufficient to have altered the outcome of the trial."

United States v. Brady, 473 U.S. ___,87 L.Ed.2d 481 (1985); United States v. Agurs 427 U.S. 97 (1976); Stone v. State,10 F.L.W. 621

(Fla. 1985).

The evidence Futch "failed" to produce has not been shown to have of such quali y At best it was speculative.

(7) Failure to properly cross examine witnesses.

No evidence was offered on this charge. Again, we have an allegation which was baseless and unsupported by any competent testimony.

Mr. Futch should not be deemed incompetent on the "strength" of baseless charges, unresearched claims, unadmitted "evidence" and issues <u>waived</u> in the Circuit Court.

POINT III

THE APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO
ALLEGE OR SHOW ANY BASIS
FOR REVERSAL OF THE COURT'S
FINDING OF COMPETENT REPRESENTATION AT THE SENTECING AND
PENALTY PHASES OF TRIAL

Mr. Futch, with fourty (40) jury trials under his belt (mostly in Bradford County) approached the sentencing phase in a manner calculated to produce a jury recommendation of life. Futch had Lusk take the stand and testify to his troubled youth, but was careful not to "open the door" to lethal rebuttal. Futch then requested mercy for his client. Futch won a life recommendation.

Mr. Sheppard felt Futch should have put on more, cumulative, evidence regarding Futch's past and Hall's character. Sheppard wanted to put the prison system on trial.

Mr. Sheppard conceded that <u>his</u> approach could have provoked a death recommendation, but testified that he could see no "disadvantage" to Lusk, on appeal, in attacking a death sentence <u>supported</u> by a jury recommendation <u>and evidence</u> as opposed to a death sentence from an <u>override</u> with a <u>clean</u> record.

This issue of tactical considerations is largely moot, since Judge Fagan held that Sheppard's cumulative evidence, now revealed, would <u>not</u> have changed his sentencing decision. Lusk has not (and indeed cannot) appeal that holding. Neverthless,

the decision not to pursue or adduce character or cumulative mitigating evidence is tactical and unreviewable. Francois v. Wainwright, supra; Stanley v. Zant, supra.

It is the province of Judge Fagan to assign weight to the evidence in mitigation, and this Court has refused to reweigh said evidence. <u>Toole v. State</u>, 10 F.L.W. 617 (Fla. 1985);

Daughtery v. State, 419 So.2d 1067 (Fla. 1982).

In <u>Funchess v. Wainwright</u>, 772 F.2d 683 (11th Cir. 1985) counsel was held to have been effective, even though mitigating evidence (and witnesses) went unproduced, when that failure was attributable to his uncooperative client. On top of everything else, we must recall that some witnesses were not called because Lusk never gave their names to Futch. Lusk's excuse? "He didn't ask." (This from the same Mr. Lusk who sued Futch's predecessor, Mr. Saxon, for not properly preparing the defense.).

This claim is wholly without meirt.

POINT IV

THIS ISSUE COULD AND SHOULD HAVE BEEN RAISED ON DIRECT APPEAL

If Lusk and his "experts" are indeed versed in the law, then they are well aware that an error (by the trial judge) of this kind could and should have been raised on direct appeal. It cannot be argued de novo on appeal, and it was not argued to Judge Fagan! Nor was Fagan subpoenaed as a witness!

In addition to Lusk's mishandling of the claim and subsequent appeal, he misapprehends the law.

Stanley v. Zant, 697 F.2d 955 (11th Cir. 1983) notes that Florida's capital sentencing system allows trial judges to weigh a fixed set of aggravating factors against an unlimited array of mitigating factors, thus creating "assymetry on the side of mercy."

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